IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES W. FERGUSON,)
)
 Petitioner,)
)
 vs.)
)
 STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
 Respondent.)
 _____)

CASE NO. _____
(4th DCA No. 87-714)

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender

MARGARET GOOD
Assistant Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit
9th Floor Governmental Center
301 North Olive Avenue
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(305) 820-2150

Counsel for Petitioner.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, CHARLES FERGUSON, was convicted of robbery and kidnapping in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida. He timely appealed to the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, contending that the facts of his case did not support a separate conviction for kidnapping according to the test adopted by this Court in Faison v. State, 426 So.2d 968 (Fla. 1983). Ferguson v. State, 13 F.L.W. 399 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 10, 1988) (Appendix 1-4).

In its decision affirming petitioner's separate conviction for kidnapping the court set forth the facts as follows:

The defendant robbed an Arby's restaurant. After he was given the money, the defendant, at gunpoint, forced the manager and three employees outside of the store and put them into a restroom located in the rear. The defendant told the victims to stay inside. After thirty seconds the manager peeked out. The defendant yelled, "get back into the bathroom." The victims obeyed for another thirty seconds when they looked out and observed the defendant riding off on a bicycle. (Appendix 1-2).¹

The Fourth District concluded that the movement and confinement of the victims was sufficient to meet the Faison test because putting the victims in the restroom and warning them to stay put was sufficient confinement, independent of the robbery, not slight, inconsequential or merely incidental to it so as to justify a separate conviction for kidnapping (Appendix at page 3).

1

The Arby's was not yet open for business for the day so no customers were present.

The district court did specifically recognize a conflict with Chaney v. State, 464 So.2d 1261 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev.den. 479 So.2d 118 (Fla. 1985). (Appendix 5-8).

Petitioner timely filed his notice to invoke this Court's discretionary review jurisdiction. This brief on jurisdiction follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision in petitioner's case expressly and directly conflicts with the decisions of the First District Court of Appeal in Chaney v. State and Friend v. State because the Fourth District applied the same rule of law to essentially the same facts of those cases to come up with a different result. Further, the court recognized that the decision in this case conflicts with the decision in Chaney; this explicit recognition of conflict is a sufficient basis to invoke this Court's discretionary review jurisdiction on the basis of express and direct conflict. Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Constitution of the State of Florida. Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

ARGUMENT

POINT ON APPEAL

THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

It is obvious that the decision of the Fourth District expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the First District in Chaney v. State, supra, (Appendix 5-8) because the district court explicitly identified the conflicting district court decision in the written opinion in petitioner's case. (Appendix 3). Also, the decision directly and expressly conflicts with Friend v. State, 385 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). (Appendix 9-11). Accordingly, petitioner invokes this Court's jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution.

In Chaney, the victim, following a robbery, was confined to a bathroom area with heavy bags placed in front of the door. The First District held that no kidnapping occurred because the victim was so confined for only 90 seconds and thus the movement was without any independent significance. Although the Fourth District declined to follow the precedent of Chaney v. State in the instant case, it did recognize conflict with Chaney, which is a sufficient basis on which to invoke this Court's discretionary review jurisdiction upon conflict of decisions. (Appendix 3).

The facts of petitioner's case are almost identical to the facts in Friend v. State, 385 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980), (Appendix 9-11) where after committing a robbery with a firearm

in a business office, Mr. Friend motioned three employees into a bathroom and commanded them to stay there. Within five minutes the employees opened the door and found that the robbers had departed. The First District Court concluded those facts were insufficient to sustain a kidnapping conviction. On substantially the same set of facts in this case the Fourth District upheld petitioner's conviction for kidnapping: an armed robber's placing employees in a restroom and ordered them to stay there was found to be sufficient confinement to justify a separate conviction for kidnapping, even though the victims only stayed there for 60 seconds. Ferguson v. State, 13 F.L.W. 399 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 10, 1988) (Appendix 1-4).

The Fourth District's application of the Faison rule of law to produce a different result in petitioner's case, which involves substantially the same facts as Friend or Chaney properly invokes this Court's conflict discretionary review jurisdiction. Mancini v. State, 312 So.2d 732 (Fla. 1975). Petitioner's case should not achieve a different and conflicting result because it arose out of Broward County then if it had occurred within the First District Court of Appeal. See Chaney v. State, supra, Friend v. State, supra, Brinson v. State, 483 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

This Court should exercise its discretionary review jurisdiction and hear the merits of the instant case because the Fourth District continues to come up with expressly different

results than what is achieved in the First District on essentially the same set of facts in these armed robbery and kidnapping cases which involve confining a robbery victim in an unlocked bathroom. Barricading the bathroom door with heavy bags was not a kidnapping in the First District, Chaney v. State, supra, but a similar slight confinement of a robbery victim in a convenience store robbery by barricading the bathroom door with shopping carts was kidnapping in the Fourth District, Johnson v. State, 509 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). In Friend v. State the First District concluded that an armed robber's placing victims in an unlocked bathroom with an order to stay put was not sufficient confinement to justify a kidnapping conviction but a similar placing of victims in an unlocked bathroom by an armed robber with a threat to stay put was kidnapping in the instant case.

If application of the law in Florida as established by this Court in Faison v. State is to be uniformly applied throughout the state, this Court should accept jurisdiction to resolve the growing conflict so directly expressed between the Fourth District and the First District on this issue under the kidnapping law.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, this Court should exercise its discretionary review jurisdiction due to the express and direct conflict between the decision in the instant case and the decisions of the First District on the same point of law.