PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida and the appellant in the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District. Respondent was the prosecution and appellee in the lower courts.

In the brief the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court. All emphasis in this brief is supplied by respondent unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Those details relevant to a resolution of the threshold jurisdictional question are related in the unanimous opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Ferguson v. State, which the State adopts as its statement of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner seeks to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Constitution of the State of Florida and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) on the ground that this decision allegedly conflicts with two decisions of the First District, Chaney v. State and Friend v. State, infra, on the same question of law. However, no basis for conflict certiorari jurisdiction exists insofar as the cases petitioner relies on for same are legally consistent with, and factually distinguishable from, the decision over which review is sought.

## ISSUE

THE COURT SHOULD NOT GRANT DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OVER THE DECISION BELOW ON THE BASIS OF ALLEGED BUT NON-EXISTENT CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL.

## ARGUMENT

In Faison v. State, 509 So.2d 1238 (Fla. 1983), this Honorable Court was confronted with a factual scenario where a defendant, convicted of sexual battery, burglary and kidnapping, contested his kidnapping conviction based on Florida Statute §787.01. Here the defendant had dragged two victims into separate parts of an office and argued that this confinement or movement was insufficient to support a kidnapping conviction. This Court then adopted a definitive test for determining whether a confinement or movement in fact is sufficient to support a conviction for kidnapping.

Subsequently, in Chaney v. State, 464 So.2d 1261 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), rev. denied 479 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 1985), the First District was confronted with a similar yet distinct factual scenario as Faison. In Chaney, the defendant and an accomplice robbed a plant nursery. During the commission of the crime they put a gun to an employee's side and directed him to open a cash register. The employee was then walked to the bathroom and requested to go inside. Once he was

inside a few heavy bags were placed in front of the bathroom door. The employee was able to escape as soon as the men left. The court held that in light of the Faison <sup>1</sup> test the facts did not support a conviction of kidnapping. Id. at 1263. Here the First District applied the test of Faison to the distinct factual scenario presented, found that the facts of that particular case did not meet the test and reversed the kidnapping conviction. As the facts are distinguishable from those in Ferguson v. State, 13 F.L.W. 399 (Fla. 4th DCA filed Feb. 10, 1988) (Ex. 1 Respondent's Appendix), no conflict between the two decisions exists.

Petitioner additionally argues that the Fourth District's decision in Ferguson conflicts with Friend v. State, 385 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). Friend v. State, was a decision which was rendered three years prior to the Faison decision. Again, the Faison decision adopted the test which both Ferguson and Chaney relied upon. Here, the court in Friend v. State, was not apprised of the Faison test and it cannot be said that the same rule of law applied in Friend and Ferguson. In fact, the Friend court only recognized one prong of the three prong Faison test 385 So.2d at 697.

---

<sup>1</sup> Notably, the Chaney decision included a strong dissent by Judge Booth, who did not agree with the majority of the court that the Faison test was not met. Id. at 1263, 1264.

Respondent additionally maintains that even if both the Ferguson and Friend courts applied the same rule of law no conflict exists as the facts in the two cases are distinguishable. To illustrate, in Friend, the defendant and an accomplice, both armed, robbed an office in a building. While committing the robbery they motioned three employees into a bathroom. The employees were able to escape within five minutes of the defendant's exit. Here the court found that the facts in the case were insufficient to support a kidnapping conviction.

In Ferguson v. State, the Fourth District considered a situation which is factually distinct from those situations addressed in Chaney and Friend. In Ferguson a defendant robbed a restaurant. After being given the money the defendant forced employees, at gunpoint, to leave the building. The defendant then forced the employees to the rear of the building where he ordered them to enter a restroom and remain inside. The victims were able to escape soon after the defendant fled.

The Fourth District applying the Faison test and relying on a plethora of caselaw<sup>2</sup> held that the movement and confinement

---

<sup>2</sup> Johnson v. State, 509 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); Lamarca v. State, 515 So.2d 309 (Fla.3d DCA 1987); Sanborn v. State, 513 So.2d 1380 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); Taylor v. State, 481 So.2d 97 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); Carter v. State, 468 So.2d 370 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 478 So.2d 53 (Fla. 1985); Sorey v. State, 419 So.2d 810 (Fla. DCA 1982); Dowdell v. State, 415 So.2d 144 (Fla.1st DCA 1982), rev. denied, 429 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1983); Harkins v. State, 380 So.2d 524 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980).

involved in the instant case was sufficient evidence upon which to uphold the defendant's kidnapping conviction. Other district courts have similarly applied the Faison test to somewhat similar factual scenarios and rejected defense claims that the kidnapping conviction could not stand. See, Taylor v. State, 481 So.2d 97 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); Carter v. State, 468 So.2d 370 (Fla. 1st DCA) rev. denied 478 So.2d 53 (Fla. 1985).